#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed
Sep 22 2021 09:57 a.m.
CASINO CONNECTION INTERNATIONAL, LLC, Anneal A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

NEVADA LABOR COMMISSIONER, a Nevada Administrative Agency, and JOHN BUYACHEK, Respondents.

Supreme Court No. 82683

Eighth Judicial District Court Case No. A-19-805612-J

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

GARMAN TURNER GORDON LLP
ERIC R. OLSEN
NVBN 03127
7251 Amigo Street, Suite 210
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119
eolasen@gtg.legal

Tel: (725) 777-3000 Fax: (725) 777-3112

Counsel for Appellant CASINO CONNECTION INTERNATIONAL, LLC.

# **NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE**

This is an appeal from a trial in the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, at which Appellant was represented by Garman Turner Gordon LLP.

## II. THE PARTIES

Appellant, CASINO CONNECTION INTERNATIONAL, LLC ("Appellant"), is a limited liability company, authorized to do business, and doing business, in Clark County, Nevada. It publishes magazines focusing on gaming industry, primarily Global Gaming Business Magazine ("GGB").

Respondents are the NEVADA LABOR COMMISSIONER ("Labor Commissioner"), and JOHN BUYACHEK ("Buyachek") a former Sales and Marketing Director of GGB who makes a claim for compensation in the form of commissions.

Respondent Labor Commissioner is head of an administrative agency created by the State of Nevada pursuant to NRS Chapter 607. The Labor Commissioner issued the Award on October 18, 2019. APPELLANT sought relief from that award by appealing that decision to the Eighth Judicial District Court on a Petition for Judicial Review or, in the Alternative, Petition for Writ of Mandamus and/or Prohibition, which was filed on November 18, 2019.

The District Court Entered an Order Denying Casino Connection International, LLC's Petition for Judicial Review or, in the Alternative, Petition for Writ of Mandamus and/or Prohibition on February 20, 2021. Notice of Entry of that Order was filed February 23, 2021.

The Notice of Appeal was timely filed on March 25, 2021.

## III. ROUTING STATEMENT

Appellant cannot state sufficient reasons for the Supreme Court to retain this matter rather than assigning it to the Court of Appeals.

#### IV. ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1. The hearing officer abused her discretion and acted in an arbitrary manner with regard to the interpretation of the contract, and the district court failed to address the Awards interpretation of the contract which must be reviewed de novo.
- 2. Whether an abuse of discretion occurred at the administrative and district court levels because the record does not contain substantial evidence supporting the administrative decision that 12.5% commission was due to claimant after his departure from the company.

## V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 23, 2018, Buyachek initiated the action against APPELLANT by filing a claim with the Labor Commissioner for \$64,442.57 in commissions that were allegedly unpaid and due. Specifically, Buyachek's claim is comprised of commissions he alleges were due on all revenues collected by APPELLANT after his departure from the company in May 2018.

The Labor Commissioner commenced an investigation into the allegations, and on February 5, 2019, Investigator Ballard issued a determination for the time period of May 9, 2018, to June 30, 2018. Investigator Ballard's determination found \$11,554.21 in wages due; assessed a penalty \$1,485.00 payable to Buyachek

pursuant to NRS 608.040; and it assessed an administrative penalty in the amount of \$5,000.00 for violations of NAC 608.120 – Payment of Commissions.

APPELLANT tendered a timely payment and Investigator Ballard reduced the \$5,000.00 administrative penalty to \$1,000.00. Buyachek, however, filed an objection to the determination, on the grounds that it did not address the entire time period of his wage claim. On July 18, 2019, a pre-hearing conference was held. No resolution was reached, and a hearing date was set.

A hearing took place on October 8, 2019. At Buyachek's request, the Hearing Officer directly considered commissions claimed by him for the extended time period of May 10, 2018, to October 22, 2018. The Hearing Officer issued the Award on October 18, 2019, sustaining Buyachek's objection and awarding him additional amounts beyond what the Investigator Ballard had determined, even though he had not proved his entitlement to any amounts.<sup>1</sup>

The Award concluded that by not paying him commissions of 12.5% on all revenue collected after Buyachek's departure from the company, Appellant violated NAC 608.120(1) and NAC 608.040. It then ordered that:

a. Casino Connection International, LLC, owes John Buyachek Jr. \$42,244.00 in unpaid commissions, for the time period of May 10, 2018, to October 22, 2018;

8

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> AA000062-AA000068.

- b. Assessed against Casino Connection International, LLC a penalty pursuant to NRS section 608.040 in the amount of \$1,980.00 payable to Buyachek.
- c. Ordered that payment in the gross amount of \$44,224.00 should be remitted to the Office of the Labor Commissioner in the name of Buyachek within 15 days of issuance of the Award.
- d. The Award did not preclude Buyachek from attempting to collect unpaid commissions for the time period after October 23, 2018.<sup>2</sup>

On November 18, 2019, APPELLANT filed its Petition for Judicial Review of the Award because the Hearing Officer failed to properly interpret the law, improperly shifted the burden of proof, and awarded 12.5% commissions on revenues received after Buyachek's employment ended, including amounts beyond what the Labor Commissions' investigator had determine, without substantial evidence. The latter ground focused primarily on the failure to reduce the commissions to 7.5% to account for paying others 5% to manage contracts to completion. <sup>3</sup> The parties fully brief the arguments and presented oral argument, on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Id. Though not before the Court at this time, Buyachek made a subsequent claim, disputed on the same grounds.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> APPELLANT also challenged the regulation, NAC 608.120, on its face, which the district court rejected.

January 12, 2021.<sup>4</sup> Judge Delany denied the Petition by an Order entered on February 20, 2021.<sup>5</sup>

In its Order, the district court glossed over the improper shifting of the burden of proof to Appellant, by simply concluding Buyachek met his burden of proving entitlement to a full 12.5% commission after his departure.

To APPELLANT's argument and evidence that commission should be reduced to 7.5%, since it was required to pay another employee 5% to manage existing sales, the district court provided no analysis of Buyachek's entitlement to any post-departure commission and as to the 5%, added opaquely:

There is no evidence that the 12.5% gets reduced by 5%. Substantial evidence supports the Hearing Officer's determination that, "based on the terms of the agreement the parties mutually entered into, the Claimant [Mr. Buyachek] should have continued to receive commissions even after he was terminated from his employment; he had completed the sale.<sup>6</sup>

APPELLANT now appeals from that decision of the district court. Here, Appellant argues: 1) The district court glossed over the significance of placing the burden of proof on the Buyachek employer; and 2) the district court disregarded a lack of substantial evidence existing in the record to support the Hearing Officer's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See Briefing, AA000461-AA000500.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> AA000532-AA000537.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> AA000544.

Award, and it acted arbitrarily in determining the 5% was attributable to "another component," not defined, not the "sales process." Appellant seeks reversal.

## VI. <u>FACTUAL BACKGROUND</u>

## A. Relevant Background.

At all relevant times, Appellant published a print magazine targeted to the gaming industry. Buyachek was employed by Appellant, for the time period from September 2015 until May 2018, to sell ad space in the magazine. During that time, Buyachek would enter into contracts with customers for add space in his capacity as a salesperson for Appellant. The contract with the customer would determine the total sales price, the number of times the add would run, and the terms of payment.<sup>7</sup>

On September 19, 2015, Appellant and Buyachek signed the Formal Offer of Employment, which contained a brief section regarding compensation:

5% commission will be paid on existing sales you will be managing. 12.5% commission will be paid on any new sales you make. Commissions are paid on collected net revenues the month following the collections. Commissions are paid in equal installments-divided by the number of paychecks that month. While you are receiving your draw, only commissions that exceed your draw will be paid.<sup>8</sup>

The Offer of Employment is the only document that speaks to the payment of commissions in this relationship.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> AA000064.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> AA000165.

When Buyachek's employment with Appellant terminated in May 2018, he received commissions on sales for which payment had been received by Appellant. A new employee, Lauren Byrage, was brought on at that point to handle existing contracts initiated by Buyachek, and she managed those sales and received 5% commission on them once completed and paid by the customer. This was consistent with the 5% commissions Buyachek himself received when he started working for Appellant in 2015. Buyachek did not receive commissions on any sales he initiated but had not been paid by the customer as of the date he left the Appellant's employ.

On October 23, 2018, Buyachek filed his wage claim with the Labor Commissioner, and on February 5, 2019, a determination issued. In response, APPELLANT tendered a timely payment. Buyachek, however, filed an objection to the determination, and when no resolution was reached a hearing took place on October 8, 2019. The Hearing Officer issued the Award on October 18, 2019.

Appellant filed its Petition for Judicial Review, on November 18, 2019. The parties fully briefed the matter, and the district court heard oral argument on January 12, 2021. It then issued Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order, and Notice

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> AA000456.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> AA00165.

of Entry was filed on February 23, 2021.<sup>11</sup> Appellant filed the timely Notice of Appeal on March 25, 2021

#### B. Grounds for Relief

APPELLANT posed to the district court essentially three challenges to the award made by the Labor Commissioner's hearing officer, of which two come before this Court.

The first challenge was one of law and involves of statutory construction, namely, that the Hearing Officer improperly interpreted the wage statutes in applying NAC 608.120 to this case. This includes shifting the burden of proof from Buyachek -- the party who rejected the Labor Commissioner's initial determination and necessitated a hearing – on to APPELLANT – the party that actually tendered the amount of determination.

The second challenge was that the Hearing Officer abused her discretion by disregarding evidence that Buyachek knew of and agreed that he would not receive a 12.5% commission on revenues due and paid by clients on contracts after his departure from the company, and/or that any commissions would be reduced by 5% commission paid to others to manage any open contracts.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> AA000532-AA000537.

Appellant appeals the district court Order on the same two grounds and abandons the third previously raised with the district court.<sup>12</sup> In short:

- 1. The hearing officer misinterpreted statutes and/or regulation by improperly placing the burden of proof on Appellant; and while the district court perhaps agreed it provided no specific ruling and stated without analysis that Buyachek met the burden.
- 2. An abuse of discretion occurred at the administrative and district court levels because the record does not contain substantial evidence supporting the administrative decision that 12.5% commission was due to claimant after his departure from the company.
- 2. The hearing officer abused her discretion and acted in an arbitrary manner with regard to the interpretation of the contract, and the district court failed to address and overrule this interpretation of the contract which must be reviewed de novo.

APPELLANT is entitled to relief from the Award and reversal of the district court Order, because the Labor Commissioner's determination that APPELLANT violated NAC 608.120 and NAC 608.040 and that it owes 12.5% commissions to Buyachek on all revenues collected after his departure from the company is erroneous and contrary to both law and the substantial factual evidence. The Hearing Officer abused her discretion by disregarding evidence, intrinsic and extrinsic to the Offer of Employment, that Buyachek knew of and agreed to terms he would not receive commissions on revenues due and paid by clients on contracts after his departure from the company, and/or that any commissions would be reduced by 5% commission paid to others to manage any open contracts. Both the Hearing Officer

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> APPELLANT's third challenge was to the validity and/or applicability of NAC 608.120, but does not make that challenge here.

and the district court lacked substantial evidence to support her findings and conclusions.

## VII. <u>LEGAL ARGUMENT</u>

First, the hearing officer improperly interpreted the law in applying NAC 608.120. "[A] reviewing court may undertake independent review of the administrative construction of a statute."<sup>13</sup> If the district court did this, the Order does not include any analysis, simply a conclusion that Buyachek "met the burden," without specifying on what evidence.

Second, the record lacked substantial evidence to support the hearing officer's award; to wit, by arbitrarily disregarding evidence that Buyachek knew of and agreed to terms that he would not receive commissions on revenues due and paid by on contracts after his departure from the company, and/or that any commissions would be reduced by the 5% paid to others to administer any open contracts, the hearing officer reached an arbitrary decision in Buyachek's favor without substantial evidence to support her findings and conclusions. The district court failed to address the inadequacies and inconsistencies of the Award and, instead, simply adopted them.

///

<sup>13</sup> Coast Hotels and Casinos, Inc. v. Nevada State Labor Com'n, 117 Nev. 835, 34 P.3d 546 (2001).

A court's review "determine[s], based on the administrative record, whether substantial evidence supports the administrative decision." This Court may remand or affirm the final decision or set it aside in whole or in part if substantial rights of the petitioner have been prejudiced because the final decision of the agency is affected by an error of law; is clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record; or is arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion. For this purpose, "substantial evidence" means evidence which a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion. 15

# 1. The district court glossed over the significance of placing the burden of proof on the employer, Appellant.

Under Nevada law, "[i]f an employer fails to pay: (a) Within 3 days after the wages or compensation of a discharged employee becomes due; or (b) On the day the wages or compensation is due to an employee who resigns or quits, the wages or compensation of the employee continues at the same rate from the day the employee resigned, quit or was discharged until paid or for 30 days, whichever is less." NRS 608.040(1). Certainly, the parties would agree that APPELLANT could not violate NRS 608.040(1), or the corresponding regulation of NAC 608.040, unless

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Kay v. Nunez, 122 Nev. 1100, 1105, 146 P.3d 801, 805 (2006); see also City Plan Dev. v. State, Labor Comm'r, 121 Nev. 419, 426, 117 P.3d 182, 187 (2005).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> NRS 233B.135(4).

APPELLANT owed commissions to Buyachek under NAC 608.120(1).

Nevada Administrative Code 608.120(1) provides:

"Payment of Commissions"

(1) If an employer and an employee agree that the employee is to be paid by commission based upon a sale, the employer shall pay each commission to the employee when the commission becomes payable pursuant to the agreement.<sup>16</sup>

A determination under NAC 608.120 comes down to the central questions of "when the commission becomes payable pursuant to the agreement" and, in this case, the definition of "sale." As noted below, Appellant points out to the Court that the Hearing Officer necessarily interpreted the regulation, or some other provision, as putting the burden of proof for the key question upon the employer; the Appellant in this case. In actuality Buyachek, the claimant and objector to the Labor Commission's original determination, bore that burden.

Buyachek is the party who objected to the Labor Commissioner's initial findings that he was entitled to just \$11,554.21; Buyachek is the one who instigated the hearing process as the claimant. Nowhere does NAC 608.120(1) put the burden

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> The regulation itself references 608.250. While NRS 608.250 relates to "minimum wage," no evidence exists in the record that Buyachek did not receive at least a minimum wage during his employment (nor was that argued). Indeed, Buyachek admits to receiving a forgivable draw against commissions during his employment. Therefore, Appellant challenged the applicability of NAC 608.120 in its Petition for Judicial Review, which the district court rejected. Appellant does not seek review of that decision from this Court.

of proving "when the commission becomes payable pursuant to the agreement" upon the Buyachek. In fact, APPELLANT tendered payment through the Labor Commission based on the initial determination, which Buyachek rejected. That burden must be upon the claimant, particularly when he objects to the Labor Commissioner's determinations and invokes the administrative law process.

The district court implicitly acknowledged the misplaced burden, though not directly ruling on the error. It simply stated, "Buyachek met his burden of proof." Yet, neither the Award nor the Order makes reference to sufficient evidence offered by Buyachek, the claimant, aside from the Offer of Employment itself.<sup>17</sup> They simply conclude that the agreement required Buyachek be paid on revenues collected even after his employment ended; this despite finding the agreement to be silent "as to the triggering event to be paid" and despite language in the agreement making clear that managing existing sales after a salesperson leaves has a specific value (a 5% commission to another salesperson) and expressly describing commission payments in terms of "paychecks." If "silent," the agreement alone could not be determinative. Whether "silent" or ambiguous, the burden fell on Buyachek to prove his entitlement to commissions for months after his employment.

<sup>17</sup> See, the Award, AA000062-000068, and the Order, AA000532-AA000537.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> AA000065, 1. 13-14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> One does not receive a paycheck after leaving an employment.

Either through misapplication of NAC 608.120 or plain legal error, the Hearing Officer improperly placed this burden upon the Buyachek, APPELLANT.<sup>20</sup> Thus, the Award does not articulate how Buyachek met his burden, but only how Appellant failed to meet a burden not properly place on it. The district court saw the legal problem with that result but made only a conclusory statement that Buyachek met his burden, without pointing to any substantial evidence.

# 2. A lack of substantial evidence existed in the record to support the hearing officer award, but the district court disregarded this.

By disregarding evidence that Buyachek knew of and agreed to terms that he would not receive commissions on revenues due and paid by customers on contracts after his departure from the company, and/or that any commissions would be reduced by the 5% paid to others in order to administer any open contracts, the Hearing Officer acted arbitrarily and lacked substantial evidence to support her findings and conclusions as to the actual terms of the agreement.

The Hearing Officer ordered that Appellant, "owes [Buyachek] \$42,244.00 in

<sup>20</sup> Buyachek's evidence consisted of the Offer of Employment and the following

11-22.

statement: "My case is based on a contract that I signed and solely focuses on how I was to be paid my wage. As stated in the agreement, I will be paid on existing sales on 5 percent. That's not in discussion at this point in time. 12.5 percent commissions will be paid at any new sales you make. That is the crux of my case. Commissions are paid on collecting net revenues the month following the collections.

Commissions are paid in equal installments divided by the number of paychecks that month. While you are receiving your draw, which is a forgivable draw, your commissions that exceed your draw will be paid." Hearing Transcript, AA00006, 1.

unpaid commissions for the time period of May 10, 2018, to October 22, 2018."<sup>21</sup> She came to that award by applying a 12.5% commission to the entire amount of \$337,952.60 collected from APPELLANT customers between May 10, 2018, to Oct 22, 2018. In order to get to the determination, however, the Hearing Officer acted arbitrarily and made certain factual findings that disregarded important evidence and, therefore, lacked substantial evidence to support those findings. The district let this error stand without any real analysis.

A. The hearing officer disregarded evidence that the rate of any commission must to be reduced by 5% to account for commissions paid to another salesperson required to manage Buyachek's sale orders.

Buyachek does not dispute that he received all commissions due on "collected net revenues" through the end of his employment, May 9, 2018. He claims, however, entitlement to a full 12.5% of net revenues for ads he booked with clients who paid after his departure from APPELLANT, regardless of whether he saw the ad through to publication and payment, and regardless of the fact APPELLANT had to pay another salesperson 5% commission to manage those ad contracts to publication and payment. <sup>22</sup> Buyachek asserts that all he had to do was get a customer to sign on the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> AA000066.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Although Buyachek said at one point in his testimony, "I am not asking for anything that I was working on afterwards." Hearing Transcript AA000006, l. 21-22.

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