IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

CASINO CONNECTION INTERNATIONAL, LLC, NOVER 04 P202 A 04:52 p.m. LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY,

Electronically Filed Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

v.

NEVADA LABOR COMMISSIONER, A NEVADA ADMINISTRATIVE AGENCY,

Respondent.

On Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada Case No. A-19-805612-J

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

AARON D. FORD Attorney General Nevada Bar No. 7704 Andrea Nichols Senior Deputy Attorney General Nevada Bar No. 6436 Office of the Nevada Attorney General 100 North Carson Street Carson City, NV 89701 (775) 684-1218ANichols@ag.nv.gov

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Casino Connection seeks to create ambiguity on the terms of Mr. Buyachek's compensation. But there is none. The parties' agreement entitles Mr. Buyachek to commissions on the net revenue from all of his sales once Casino Connection received payment. The agreement does not condition payment on (1) Mr. Buyachek's continued employment with Casino Connection, (2) completion of other tasks not identified in the offer of employment, or (3) limit his compensation after termination of his employment to cover payments to a new salesperson. But even if ambiguity exists, the law requires resolution of that ambiguity in Mr. Buyachek's favor because Casino Connection drafted the offer of employment.

Casino Connection's assertion that the Hearing Officer improperly shifted the burden is not supported by the record. Even if the Hearing Officer placed the burden on Casino Connection, it makes no difference to the outcome because the Hearing Officer's Findings of Fact

 $^{^{42}}$ App. Vol. 1, 000020-21, Hearing Transcript, p. 73, l. 24 to P. 74, l. 2.

Conclusions of Law and Order was based on the agreement of both parties, the interpretation of which is a question of law. And there is no factual dispute over the net revenue Casino Connection collected on sales Mr. Buyachek made, which controls the calculation of Mr. Buyachek's commission under the agreement.

Further, the record does not support Casino Connection's claim that Mr. Buyachek knew or should have known that he was required to complete additional tasks when Casino Connection reduced those additional tasks to writing six months after Mr. Buyachek was terminated. The language of the agreement controls. And any ambiguity in the agreement—if there is any—must be construed against Casino Connection as a matter of law.

Substantial evidence supports the Hearing Officer's determination that Casino Connection owes Mr. Buyachek unpaid commissions. This Court should affirm.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The applicable standard of review is set forth in NRS 233B.135, which places the burden of proof on the party attacking an agency decision to show that the final agency decision is invalid. When

reviewing an administrative agency's decision the Court defers to the agency's findings of fact, but reviews questions of law de novo. Bombardier Transp. (Holdings) USA, Inc., v. Nev. Lab. Comm'r, 135 Nev. 15, 18, 433 P.3d 248, 252 (2019) (citing to Nevada Dep't. of Tax'n v. Masco Builder Cabinet Grp., 127 Nev. 730, 265 P.3d 666 (2011)). The Nevada Supreme Court has repeatedly recognized the authority of agencies to interpret the language of a statute that they are charged with administering; as long as that interpretation is reasonably consistent with the language of the statute, it is entitled to deference in the courts. Dept. of Bus. and Indus., Fin. Inst's Div. v. TitleMax of Nev., Inc., 135 Nev. 336, 340, 449 P.3d 835, 839 (2019) (citing to Int'l Game Tech., Inc. v. Second Judicial Dist. Court, 122 Nev. 132, 157, 127 P.3d 1088, 1106 (2006)).

In the absence of a factual dispute, interpreting a contract is also a question of law that is reviewed de novo. Am. First Fed. Credit Union v. Soro, 131 Nev. 737, 739, 359 P.3d 105, 106 (2015). The objective of contract interpretation is to look at the language in the document and the attendant circumstances to determine the intent of the parties. Id.

In the absence of ambiguity, the contract is to be enforced as written, and any ambiguity in the contract is construed against the drafter. *Id*.

ARGUMENT

The Trial Court did not err in Denying the Petition for Judicial Review Because Substantial Evidence Supports the Hearing Officer's Decision.

A. There is no Evidence That the OLC Improperly Placed the Burden of Proof on Casino Connection

In February of 2019, the OLC issued a determination that Casino Connection owed Mr. Buyachek payment for commissions for May 9, 2018, through June 30, 2018.⁴³ Mr. Buyachek objected, noting that the OLC had not received all pertinent information.⁴⁴

At the hearing of this matter, the OLC Investigator testified that the February 2019 determination was for the period of May 10 through June 30, 2018, because that was all the information she had.⁴⁵ For the hearing, which was held approximately one year after Mr. Buyachek filed his wage claim, Casino Connection submitted documentation concerning

⁴³ App. Vol. 2, 000167-169.

⁴⁴ App. Vol. 2, 000170, and App. Vol. 5, 000455, ll. 10-11.

⁴⁵ App. Vol. 1, 000004, Hearing Transcript, p. 6, l. 5 to p. 8, l. 19.

revenue the company received after June 30, 2018, on sales Mr. Buyachek made before his termination. 46

In its Opening Brief, Casino Connection argues that Mr. Buyachek had the burden of proof at the hearing because he appealed the OLC's initial determination and that, "the district court glossed over the significance of placing the burden of proof on the employer."⁴⁷ However, Casino Connection fails to point to any statute or regulation that would indicate which party had the burden of proof at the hearing. Casino Connection also fails to point to anything in the OLC's Decision that would indicate which party the OLC placed the burden on.

The Hearing Officer found, "[B]ased on the terms of the agreement the parties mutually entered into, the Claimant should have continued to receive 12.5% commission even after he was terminated from his employment; he had completed the sale." This finding is supported by the party's contract which states, "[C]ommissions are paid on collected

⁴⁶ App. Vol. 2, 000193-000195, and Vol. 4, 000411-414. Casino Connection also submitted copies of invoices and orders, but the billing and payment information was redacted App. Vol. 2-4, 000246-000409.

⁴⁷ Appellant's Opening Brief, p. 16.

⁴⁸ App. Vol. 5, 000458, ll. 4-6.

net revenues the month following the collection."⁴⁹ The District Court concluded, "that Mr. Buyachek met the burden of showing that he was entitled to 12.5% commission."⁵⁰ Casino Connection has the burden to show that the OLC's decision is invalid.⁵¹ Casino Connection cannot meet that burden no matter which party had the burden of proof at the hearing.

NAC 608.120 requires an employer to pay each commission, "to the employee when the commission becomes due and payable pursuant to the agreement." NRS 608.040(1) provides that "If an employer fails to pay: (a) Within 3 days after the wages or compensation is due; or (b) On the day the wages or compensation is due to an employee who resigns or quits, the wages or compensation of the employee continues at the same rate from the day the employee resigned, quit or was discharged until paid or for 30 days, whichever is less." Casino Connection terminated Mr. Buyachek's employment in May of 2018. The company did not pay Mr. Buyachek commissions in the months following his termination, even though Casino Collection continued to receive revenue on sales Mr.

⁴⁹ App. Vol. 2, 000165, 000214, 000219, and 000242.

⁵⁰ App. Vol. 5, 000544, ll.10-11.

⁵¹ NRS 233B.135.

Buyachek made. The Hearing Officer calculated a penalty using 30 days at minimum wage.⁵² There is nothing erroneous, in either the OLC's Determination or the District Court's Order, concerning the application of these statutes and regulations, no matter which party has the burden of proof.

B. There is no Evidence in the Record Tending to Show that Mr. Buyachek's Commission Should be Reduced by 5%.

Casino Connection argues that the OLC disregarded evidence that Mr. Buyachek's commission should be reduced by 5%. Casino Connection points to its agreement with Mr. Buyachek as support for this argument. However, neither the agreement nor anything else in the record tends to show that the parties agreed to any such reduction. Instead, as the Hearing Officer noted, the language in the four corners of the parties' agreement controls.⁵³

Casino Connection quotes Mr. Buyachek as stating, "I am not asking for anything that I was working on afterwards." The quote is taken out of context. Mr. Buyachek testified, "I worked for the wage, and

⁵² App. Vol. 5, 000458, nt. 10.

⁵³ App. Vol. 1, 000066

⁵⁴ Appellant's Opening Brief, p. 20, nt. 22.

I expect to be paid after it's collected. I am not asking for anything that I was working on afterwards."55 Mr. Buyachek explained further,

There's no other item in here that says I'm responsible for anything else. I get paid when I — when they get paid. I performed the sale and the contract is simple. . .This contract induced me to sign. I just want what I worked for. I don't want anything that hasn't been consummated. I didn't do that work. That's all I can tell you ma'am. ⁵⁶

When he was hired Mr. Buyachek earned a 5% commission for managing existing contracts and 12.5% for sales he made.⁵⁷ Casino Connection testified that it hired a replacement for Mr. Buyachek and paid this person 5% of collected net revenues for servicing existing contracts and 12.5% for new contracts.⁵⁸ But there is nothing in the agreement establishing that Mr. Buyachek would not still receive the total value of his commissions for the sales he made, or that his commissions would be reduced to cover any payments Casino Connection made to a new salesperson.⁵⁹ Thus, contrary to Casino Connection's

 $^{^{55}}$ App. Vol. 1, 000006, Hearing Transcript p. 15, ll. 20-22.

⁵⁶ App. Vol. 1, 000006, Hearing Transcript p. 16, ll. 20-23 and p. 17, ll. 17-21.

⁵⁷ App. Vol. 1, 000025, Hearing Transcript p. 91, ll. 3-7.

⁵⁸ App. Vol. 1, 000025-34, Hearing Transcript p. 92, ll. 10-20 and p. 127, ll. 15-24.

⁵⁹ App. Vol 2, 000165, 000214, 000219, and 000242.

claim, the record supports the Hearing Officer's finding on the absence of language in the agreement memorializing that compensation of a new salesperson would come at the cost of a comparable reduction of Mr. Buyachek's commission.

C. The Evidence Does Not Support a Finding That Mr. Buyachek was Required to Complete Additional Tasks in Order to Receive Commissions.

Casino Connection argues that Mr. Buyachek was required to complete 14 steps in order to earn a 12.5% commission and the OLC's Decision failed to mention 14 steps of the "sales cycle." The Hearing Officer based her Decision on the four corners of the party's agreement and not on a document created six months after Mr. Buyachek left the company. The substantial evidence simply does not support Casino Connection's assertion that Mr. Buyachek was required to complete additional tasks in order to receive his commissions.

At the hearing, Casino Connection alleged that to receive his commissions Mr. Buyachek was required to complete 13 steps.⁶² Casino

⁶⁰ Appellant's Opening Brief, p. 29.

⁶¹ App. Vol. 5, 000458, ll. 2-6 and App. Vol. 1, 000029, Hearing Transcript, p. 108, ll. 11-21.

⁶² App. Vol. 1, 000094.

Connection's representative admitted that these steps were not given to Mr. Buyachek in written form.⁶³ In fact, the list was created in November of 2018, six months after Mr. Buyachek's employment with Casino Connection ended.⁶⁴ Mr. Buyachek testified that the first time he'd seen the list was in the letter Casino Connection's attorney sent to the OLC.⁶⁵

Mr. Buyachek acknowledged that a series of things would need to happen before Casino Connection got paid, and in turn for Mr. Buyachek to get paid. 66 Casino Connection asked Mr. Buyachek to complete some of these tasks after he was hired. 67 Casino Connection also asked Mr. Buyachek to perform other work for the company, which was not on the list of 13 steps, and for which he did not receive remuneration. 68

There were times when Mr. Buyachek did not complete all of the tasks and the magazine still came out. His agreement did not require him

⁶³ App. Vol. 1, 000029, Hearing Transcript p. 107, l. 23 to p. 108, l. 21.

⁶⁴ App. Vol. 1, 000029, Hearing Transcript, p. 108, ll. 11-21.

⁶⁵ App. Vol. 1, 000014, Hearing Transcript p. 47, l. 23 to p. 48, l. 5.

⁶⁶ App. Vol. 1, 000014, Hearing Transcript p. 48, ll. 2-19.

⁶⁷ App. Vol. 1, 000015-20, Hearing Transcript p. 52, l. 1 to p. 53, l. 16, p. 57, l. 25 to p. 58, l. 6, p. 59, l. 23 to p. 60, l. 9 and p. 72, ll. 6-21.

⁶⁸ App. Vol. 1, 000020, Hearing Transcript p. 72, ll. 11-21.

to complete each item in order to get paid.⁶⁹ As Mr. Buyachek stated, "all I've been asking for is once they get paid, I want my commission."⁷⁰

The evidence in the record supports the District Court's conclusion that, "Substantial evidence supports the Hearing Officer's determination that, 'based on the terms of the agreement the parties mutually entered into, the Claimant [Mr. Buyachek] should have continued to receive commissions even after he was terminated from his employment; he had completed the sale.""71

D. Any Ambiguity in the Agreement Must be Construed Against Casino Connection.

Ambiguity exists when a contract is capable of more than one reasonable interpretation. Am. First Fed. Credit Union, 131 Nev. at 739, 359 P.3d at 106. Here, there is no ambiguity. But if there is, it must be construed against Casino Connection as the drafter of the agreement. Id. Casino Connection argues that Mr. Buyachek knew and agreed that he would not continue to receive commissions after termination of his employment, that his compensation would be dependent on the

⁶⁹ App. Vol. 1, 000015-16, Hearing Transcript p. 52, l. 15 to p. 53, l. 8, and p. 56, l. 16 to p. 57, l. 17.

⁷⁰ App. Vol. 1, 000020-21, Hearing Transcript, p. 73, l. 24 to P. 74, l. 2.

⁷¹ App. 000535, ll. 14-18.

completion of additional tasks, and/or that his commissions would be reduced by 5% to cover the cost of paying a new salesperson because Mr. Buyachek was paid 5% to manage existing contracts when he started.⁷² But Casino Connection's deductive logic fails under rules for contract interpretation, which require enforcement of the agreement as written. *Id*.

There is no language in the contract conditioning payment of commissions on continued employment, completion of additional tasks, or requiring a 5% reduction of commissions after termination of employment to cover payment of a new salesperson. The agreement requires Casino Connection to pay Mr. Buyachek a 12.5% commission for net revenue on any sales he made with payment issuing the month after collection of the revenue, full stop. And the language of the agreement controls. *Id.*

Even assuming Casino Connection's interpretation of the agreement is reasonable, that only creates ambiguity. The Hearing Officer and the District Court reasonably read the terms of the

⁷² Appellant's Opening Brief, p. 15, 23-28

⁷³ App. Vol. 2, 000165 000214, 000219, and 000242.

agreement to require continued payment of a 12.5% commission on all of Mr. Buyachek's sales, even after termination of his employment. And that means Mr. Buyachek must prevail as a matter of law, because any ambiguity in the agreement must be construed against Casino Connection as the drafter of the agreement.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing the State of Nevada on relation of its Labor Commissioner respectfully requests that this Court enter its Order affirming the District Court's denial of Casino Connection's Petition for Judicial Review.